NO. 92199.7

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA J. ARCHDALE,

Petitioner

VS.

SHARYL L. O'DANNE,

Respondent

Court of Appeals Cause No. 71905-0-I Appeal from the Superior Court of Snohomish County The Honorable Millie M. Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By: SANDRA ARCHDALE Petitioner Pro Se 820 E. Cady Road, Apt. G105 Everett WA 98203-5017 425-922-1613 CAUR OF APPEALS DIVI

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Sandra J. Archdale (hereafter "Ms. Archdale") asks this court to accept review of the Division I Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, designated in part B below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Ms. Archdale asks the Supreme Court to review the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals, entered on July 6, 2015 (Appendix at pages A-001 - 014) and its denial of Ms. Archdale's Motion for Reconsideration on July 31, 2015 (A-015).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the decision of the Division I Court of Appeals below conflict with the Supreme Court's decisions in City of Lakewood v. Pierce Cnty., 144 Wn.2d 118, 126, 30 P.3d 446, 450 (2001), Baker v. Leonard, 120 Wn.2d 538, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993), Kausky v. Kosten. 27 Wn.2d 721, 179 P.2d 950 (1947), Biggs v. Vail, 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 (1992), and State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888, 969 P.2d 64 (1998)?
- 2. Does granting a Plaintiff part of the relief she requested in her Complaint preclude the court from finding her action frivolous as a whole, making an award of "frivolous action" attorney's fees inappropriate?

3. Is refusing to quiet title to a condominium in the name of its constructive owner inequitable when the constructive owner pays all costs associated with the purchase of the condominium?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Factual Background

In 2004, O'Danne agreed to take title to the Condo in her name as an accommodation to Archdale, since Archdale was separated from her husband and did not want his name on the title. CP 4-5. Archdale used her separate funds to purchase the Condo and has paid all mortgage payments, taxes, insurance, and dues associated with the Condo. CP 5. O'Danne never transferred title to Archdale, prompting Archdale to initiate a quiet title action.

The trial court refused to quiet title to the Condo in Archdale, ordered her to "purchase" it, and, absent such "purchase," ordered its forced sale within 6 months of trial on a finding that Archdale acted in bad faith in not paying off the underlying note and deed of trust upon receipt of the proceeds from her mother's estate. CP 6. The trial court found the action frivolous based on findings that Archdale "induced" O'Danne to purchase the Condo through a bad-faith misrepresentation that she would

¹ At the time they were due, Archdale did not pay the mortgage payments for February and March 2012. O'Danne initially made these payments, and Archdale has since reimbursed her.

use her inheritance to pay off the mortgage, that Archdale "had no need to resort to litigation or call upon the equitable powers of the Court," and that Archdale "did not have a factual or legal basis for asserting her claim that she was entitled to a constructive or other trust." CP 13.

Archdale asserts she acted in good faith. Archdale further claims it was O'Danne's refusal to honor her promise to quit-claim the Condo's title to Archdale, and O'Danne's refusal to transfer title until the estate of the parties' mother was settled, that compelled Archdale to initiate a quiet title action. Archdale also asserts her action for a constructive or resulting trust was brought in good faith and was not frivolous.

2. Procedural Background

Archdale filed this quiet title action on June 4, 2010, alleging O'Danne refused to honor her promise to quit claim the Condo's title to Archdale so Archdale could refinance the Condo's mortgage in her own name. CP 296, CP 300:6-8. Further, Archdale filed this action because O'Danne operated under the false assumption that a March 2007 court order prohibited her from transferring the Condo's title to Archdale. CP 5, CP 29, CP 32, November 13, 2013 VR at 126:6-17.

Bench trial of this matter occurred in Snohomish County Superior Court before the Honorable Millie M. Judge on October 10, 2014 and November 13 and 14, 2014. October 10, 2014 VR 1-44, November 13

and 14, 2014 VR 1-230. After trial, the court issued a Decision and Order on November 14, 2014, finding equitable grounds for granting Archdale a constructive trust in the Condo (CP at 152, ¶2, 7-8) but refusing to quiet title in Archdale. CP at 152, ¶2. Further, the trial court ordered Archdale to "purchase" the Condo no later than 5:00 p.m. on Monday, May 14, 2014 via a Purchase and Sale Agreement whereby O'Danne would transfer title via quit-claim deed to Archdale upon Archdale satisfying the underlying debt. CP 153 ¶8.a. The trial court ordered the forced sale of the Condo if Archdale was unable to "purchase" it by May 14, 2014. CP 153 ¶8.b. Finally, the trial court ordered payment to O'Danne of 25% of the excess proceeds of the Condo's sale as "compensation for the use of her credit" by Archdale. CP 153 ¶8.c.ii.

In its November 14, 2013 Decision and Order, the trial court also found the litigation was not frivolous or brought in violation of CR 11. CP at 154, ¶12. However, on January 27, 2014, the court granted reconsideration, amending paragraph 12 of its November 14, 2013 Decision and Order and allowing O'Danne to bring a motion for attorney's fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.84.185, the frivolous lawsuit statute.

On April 4, 2014, the trial court entered findings and an order granting O'Danne's motion for attorney's fees and costs, totaling

\$55,388.91. CP 15-18. On April 18, 2014, the trial court entered "corrected" findings, *nunc pro tunc* to April 4, 2014. CP 11-14. On May 5, 2014, the trial court entered a judgment confirming its April 4, 2014 decision and order, as amended, *nunc pro tunc* to April 4, 2014. CP 1-3.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's decisions in City of Lakewood v. Pierce Cnty., 144 Wn.2d 118, 126, 30 P.3d 446, 450 (2001), Baker v. Leonard, 120 Wn.2d 538, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993), Kausky v. Kosten, 27 Wn.2d 721, 179 P.2d 950 (1947), Biggs v. Vail, 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 (1992), and State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888, 969 P.2d 64 (1998). RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The Court of Appeals erred in concluding substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that "The Defendant [Ms. O'Danne] agreed to transfer title to the Plaintiff once the mortgage was paid off." (A-007).

The Court of Appeals also erred in finding no abuse of discretion by the trial court with respect to the terms of the constructive trust (A-007 - A-009).

Finally, the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in awarding attorney's fees and costs to O'Danne pursuant to RCW 4.84.185, the "frivolous lawsuit" statute (A-009 - A012)

1. This Case is Squarely Controlled by City of Lakewood v. Pierce Cnty., 144 Wn.2d 118, 30 P.3d 446, 450 (2001).

The trial court refused to quiet title in the Condo to Archdale, despite imposing a constructive trust in her favor, and despite the parties' agreement that Archdale is the Condo's constructive owner. CP 151 ¶2, Ex. 26. The trial court did so based on the erroneous finding that Archdale promised to pay off the underlying mortgage "as soon as she received her inheritance[.]" CP 152 ¶6. In fact, O'Danne testified on direct examination the parties had no agreement as to when Archdale would pay off the mortgage, November 13, 2013 VR 17:9-19; and she agreed Archdale was the Condo's constructive owner. See Ex 26. Regardless, the equities favor quieting title in Archdale when she pays off the Condo's mortgage.

Fee simple title is not necessary to plead and prove a quiet title action. Some possessory interest is sufficient, as is equitable title. W. Stoebuck, J. Weaver, <u>Ejectment and Quiet Title Actions</u>, 18 Wash.Prac., Real Estate § 11.3 (2d ed.):

A constructive trust is an equitable remedy which arises when the person holding title to property has an equitable duty to convey it to another on the grounds that they would be unjustly enriched if permitted to retain it. Constructive trusts are imposed when there is clear, cogent and convincing evidence of the basis for impressing the trust.

<u>City of Lakewood v. Pierce Cnty.</u>, 144 Wn.2d 118, 126, 30 P.3d 446, 450 (2001)

Constructive trusts can be imposed in broad circumstances not arising to fraud or undue influence. <u>Baker v. Leonard</u>, 120 Wn.2d 538, 547, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993). Indeed, when legal title to property has been obtained through any means or circumstances rendering it unconscientious for the holder of the legal title to retain and enjoy the beneficial interest, equity impresses a constructive trust. <u>Kausky v. Kosten</u>, 27 Wash.2d 721, 727–28, 179 P.2d 950 (1947) (quoting 4 S. Symons, <u>Equity Jurisprudence</u> § 1053, at 119 (5th ed. 1941)). The trial court rightly impressed such a trust in Archdale in the present case. CP 151 ¶2.

O'Danne had an equitable duty to convey title back to Archdale, subject to encumbrances. This could have been accomplished by O'Danne simply signing a quit-claim deed to Archdale and placing it in escrow, or by O'Danne simply holding title until Archdale paid off the Condo's mortgage, then transferring it to Archdale via quit-claim deed. Any other result would be unconscientious and inequitable. The trial court's refusal to quiet title in Archdale, subject to encumbrances, ignores

O'Danne's equitable duty to convey title to Archdale. As such, the trial court abused its discretion in not quieting title.

2. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion with Respect to the Terms of the Constructive Trust.

For the same reason the court abused its discretion in refusing to quiet title in Archdale, it abused its discretion in ordering Archdale to "purchase" the Condo by May 14, 2014, or, in the alternative, ordering the forced sale of the Condo if Archdale were unable to "purchase" it by May 14, 2014. The court in the present case found clear, cogent and convincing evidence for granting Archdale a constructive trust in the Condo. CP 151 ¶2. Indeed, the parties agreed Archdale is the Condo's constructive owner. Ex. 26. It necessarily follows that O'Danne has a duty to convey title to the Condo to Archdale, subject to encumbrances of record. See City of Lakewood, supra, 144 Wn.2d at 126, and see Brooke v. Robinson, 125 Wn. App. 253, 257, 104 P.3d 674 (2004). By ordering Archdale to purchase the Condo by May 14, 2014, or, in the alternative, ordering the forced sale of the Condo by that date, the trial court ignored O'Danne's equitable duty to convey title to Archdale. As such, the trial court abused its discretion.

In addition, the trial court erroneously granted O'Danne 25% of the net proceeds from any sale of the Condo. CP 153, ¶8.c.ii. Because the constructive trust imposes an equitable duty on O'Danne to convey the Condo's title to Archdale once Archdale pays off the underlying mortgage, it necessarily follows that O'Danne would be unjustly enriched if she were allowed to receive any proceeds from the sale of the Condo. See City of Lakewood, supra, 144 Wn.2d at 126, and see Brooke, supra, 125 Wn. App. at 257.

"[A] person who is unjustly enriched at the expense of another is liable in restitution to the other." contracts, or contracts implied by law, are founded on the equitable principle of unjust enrichment that one should not be "unjustly enriched at the expense of another." A person has been unjustly enriched when he has profited or enriched himself at the expense of another contrary to equity. Enrichment alone will not trigger the doctrine; the enrichment must be unjust under the circumstances and as between the two parties to the transaction. elements must be established for unjust enrichment: (1) there must be a benefit conferred on one party by another; (2) the party receiving the benefit must have an appreciation or knowledge of the benefit; and (3) the receiving party must accept or retain the benefit under circumstances that make it inequitable for the receiving party to retain the benefit without paying its value.

<u>Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC</u>, 139 Wn.App. 560, 576, 161 P.3d 473, 482 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

O'Danne received the benefit of "ownership" of the Condo without the burden. Archdale has paid all costs associated with the Condo. O'Danne suffered no adverse consequences from Archdale missing two mortgage payments in February and March 2012, as O'Danne neither applied for nor was denied any credit as a result. CP 186:14-16. Further, Archdale has since reimbursed O'Danne for those payments.

By contrast, O'Danne failed to act in an equitable manner. She kept the proceeds from escrow refund checks related to the Condo's mortgage even though she knew they belonged to Archdale. CP 20:9-19, 23:5-18. She never asked the Condo's mortgage lender, Chase Bank, whether it would consent to transferring title to Archdale, despite the Bank's authority to do so, and despite Archdale's repeated demands that she do so since 2005. CP 179:8-20; 185:2-186:6; 193:15-18; Ex. 39, p.18. Likewise, O'Danne never asked Chase Bank to hold a quit-claim deed in escrow pending Archdale obtaining funds to pay off the underlying debt on the mortgage, despite Archdale asking her to do so for years. CP 193:4 - 194:11. O'Danne cited "security" as her rationale for refusing to put the 194:25 - 195:4. Condo's title in escrow. Despite her multiple representations to the contrary, when Archdale presented O'Danne with an offer to pay off the underlying obligation on the Condo in its entirety, O'Danne refused unless Archdale simultaneously paid off a separate judgment against Archdale in the Franzen Estate action. CP 53:5-11.

It would be inequitable for O'Danne to receive any proceeds from the sale of the Condo, as she has not acted in equity, and she would be unjustly enriched thereby. There is no reason to force the sale of the Condo as long as Archdale continues to make all payments associated with it. However, if the Condo is sold, all excess proceeds should go to Archdale. The trial court abused its discretion in ordering otherwise.

3. The Trial Court Erred in Awarding "Frivolous Action" Attorney's Fees and Costs.

A lawsuit or defense, *in its entirety*, must be determined to be frivolous and to have been advanced without reasonable cause before an award of prevailing party attorneys' fees can be made pursuant to RCW 4.84.185. <u>Biggs</u>, *supra*, 119 Wn.2d 129, 133, 830 P.2d 350, 352 (1992). "A case is not necessarily frivolous because a party ultimately loses on a factual or legal ground." <u>W.R.P. Lake Union Ltd. P'ship v. Exterior Servs., Inc.</u>, 85 Wn.App. 744, 752, 934 P.2d 722, 727 (1997). Indeed, a claim can even be found meritless but not frivolous. See, e.g., <u>Lockhart v. Greive</u>, 66 Wn.App. 735, 744, 834 P.2d 64, 69 (1992).

An action is only frivolous if it "cannot be supported by any rational argument based in fact or law." Granville Condo. Homeowners Ass'n v. Kuehner, 177 Wn.App. 543, 312 P.3d 702, 710 (2013), quoting Wright v. Dave Johnson Ins. Inc., 167 Wn.App. 758, 785, 275 P.3d 339, review denied, 175 Wash.2d 1008, 285 P.3d 885 (2012). Under RCW 4.84.185, the trial court is not empowered to sort through the lawsuit, search for abandoned frivolous claims and then award fees based solely on

such isolated claims. <u>Biggs</u>, *supra*, 119 Wn.2d at 136. Indeed, when an action is not *entirely* frivolous, an award of *any* sanctions under RCW 4.84.185 is unwarranted, even for allegedly frivolous causes of action. <u>Id</u> at 133-37.

The court in <u>Wright</u>, *supra*, found the trial court abused its discretion in awarding fees under RCW 4.84.185 when it found the plaintiff's testimony not credible. At the hearing on the <u>Wright</u> Defendants' post-judgment motion for fees under RCW 4.84.185, the trial court opined, "What is a frivolous lawsuit [or] defense other than you know it when you see it[,]" and referring to the Plaintiff's "deceitfulness," "dishonesty," and "basically false testimony." The <u>Wright</u> court held the trial court applied the wrong standard, reasoning that,

[e]ven if we disregard Wright's testimony, as we must, based on the trial court's credibility determination, the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to Wright nevertheless shows a dispute was ongoing between Wright and Johnson over Wright's compensation. [...] Even though Wright's counterclaim ultimately failed, it cannot be said that it was entirely frivolous.

Wright, supra., 167 Wn.App. at 785-87.

Like the trial court in <u>Wright</u>, *supra*, the trial court in the present case used the wrong standard in awarding attorney's fees and costs to O'Danne:

My problem is I am hung up on the law and the requirement that I find the matter as a whole was frivolous. I do find -- I do find that the relief that Ms. Archdale sought was largely not granted to her and that she could have obtained relief without coming to court. [...] So I guess I am finding based on that that Ms. Archdale's claims were frivolous and I will grant attorney's fees in favor of Ms. O'Danne under 4.84.185. I am hopeful that this is not subject to reversible error when the Court of Appeals looks at it, but you know, when I look at the equities here, there is just no question that Ms. O'Danne was in the right and her sister Ms. Archdale was in the wrong. And the fact that the relief that was granted was largely in favor of Ms. O'Danne and not in favor of Ms. Archdale weighs heavily on me, so that is my decision for now and we'll see where you parties take it from here. [Emphasis added]

March 10, 2014 VR 19:6-23.

Contrary to the trial court's finding (CP 16 - 17, March 10, 2014 VR 19), Archdale's action was well-grounded in law and in fact. This action to quiet title was filed pursuant to RCW 7.28.120, as Archdale has superior title to O'Danne's legal title. CP 305:1-3. Archdale's claim for a constructive trust was supported by evidence other than her own testimony, proceeded to trial, and the court found clear, cogent and convincing evidence to support it. CP 152, ¶8. Indeed, O'Danne's intransigence necessitated the action. On March 23, 2007, the Snohomish County Superior Court entered an Order in the Estate of Beverly Franzen matter, Docket No. 03-4-01343, providing in part as follows: "No party shall encumber, sell, or transfer the condominium without approval of

both parties' counsel." CP 29. As a practical matter, this language protected Archdale from O'Danne's actions, as Archdale was not on title to the condominium and therefore had no ability to encumber, sell or transfer it. Nonetheless, O'Danne took the position that this language somehow prohibited transfer of the Condo's title to Archdale until the estate matter was resolved:

This simply means that according to the court papers [...], "no party will be allowed to transfer or sell the condominium at this time." This still stands and will continue to stand until the estate has been settled.

CP 32.

O'Danne's intransigence on this issue forced Archdale to seek the assistance of the court in compelling O'Danne to transfer title to the Condo. Indeed, O'Danne's prior counsel suggested to Archdale at the end of the Estate trial that she file a quiet title action. CP 5, November 13, 2013 VR at 126:6-17.

In response to the Complaint in this action, O'Danne also baselessly alleged Archdale "removed funds from the estate coffers to pay for the earnest money and the appraisal" on the Condo. CP 33. In her deposition on July 25, 2013, O'Danne conceded this was not true:

- 2 Q. And Page 3 of this document, Paragraph 5, Line 5, the
- 3 sentence towards the end of that line says, Contrary
- 4 to Sandra Archdale's assertions. I have never
- 5 attempted to deny the fact that Sandra Archdale is the

- 6 equitable owner of this property and is entitled to
- 7 possession of the property and the tax deductions for
- 8 the payment of interest each year on the note and deed
- 9 of trust against this property.
- Did I read that correctly?
- 11 A. That's what it says.
- 12 Q. And do you agree with that statement?
- 13 A. Yes.
- 14 Q. So you have never tried to claim the property-tax
- deductions for the condominium?
- 16 A. Never.
- 17 Q. And you've never claimed the mortgage interest, on
- 18 your taxes, for the condominium?
- 19 A. Never.
- 20 Q. And you agree Ms. Archdale paid all of the down
- 21 payment and other costs required to complete the
- 22 initial purchase; correct?
- 23 A. Yes.
- 24 Q. Okay. And do you know what the source of those funds
- 25 was?
- 1 A. I would assume from the inheritance. I didn't write
- the check, so I really couldn't answer that.
- 3 Q. When you say the inheritance, you're referring to your
- sister's share of the inheritance from your mother's
- 5 estate?
- 6 A. Her share, yes.

CP 36-37.

Contrary to the trial court's finding (CP 13:7-10), O'Danne was unwilling to convey the condominium to Archdale upon a simultaneous payoff of the mortgage balance, necessitating trial. When Archdale presented O'Danne with such an offer, O'Danne refused to transfer title to the Condo to Archdale without a simultaneous payoff of a separate

judgment against Archdale in the Franzen Estate action. CP 53:5-11.

Archdale was thus compelled to proceed to trial.

Contrary to the court's finding (CP 13, ¶2.b.), Archdale needed to bring this action. Indeed, the action afforded Archdale the opportunity to acquire title to the Condo without O'Danne's demand that the purchase be contingent on payment of the judgment in the estate action. Archdale's constructive trust and resulting trust claims were necessary and brought in good faith. The constructive trust claim advanced to trial, and the court, exercising its equity powers, granted Archdale the relief she requested. CP 152, ¶7. Therefore, the court abused its discretion in finding Archdale's action frivolous. See <u>Biggs</u>, *supra*, 119 Wn.2d at 137; and see <u>Verharen</u>, *supra*, 136 Wn.2d at 903-04.

4. The Trial Court Erred in Awarding O'Danne \$53,396.00 in Attorney's Fees and \$1,992.91 Costs as the "Prevailing Party".

Even if Archdale's action were entirely frivolous (which it is not), an attorney fee award under under RCW 4.84.185 is predicated on the party requesting fees being the prevailing party. See Rawe v. Bosnar, 167 Wn. App. 509, 513, 273 P.3d 488, 489-90 (2012), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1003, 285 P.3d 884 (2012). Although a successful defendant can recover as a prevailing party [see Marine Enters., Inc. v. Sec. Pac. Trading Corp., 50 Wn.App. 768, 772, 750 P.2d 1290 (1988)],

In general, a prevailing party is one who receives an affirmative judgment in his or her favor. If neither wholly prevails, then the determination of who is a prevailing party depends upon who is the substantially prevailing party, and this question depends upon the extent of the relief afforded the parties.

Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633-34, 934 P.2d 669, 681 (1997).

O'Danne did not receive a judgment in her favor. Archdale received, in part, the relief she was requesting, namely, a constructive trust in the Condo. O'Danne is not the prevailing party, and Archdale prevailed, in part, on her claim for the imposition of a constructive trust. Therefore, assuming *arguendo* that Archdale's action was entirely frivolous, the court may not award attorney's fees to O'Danne under RCW 4.84.185.

Contrary to the trial court's finding (CP 16:15-16), Archdale's abandonment of her resulting trust theory at trial does not make O'Danne the "prevailing party" for purposes of awarding attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.185. Archdale brought this action to quiet title under alternate constructive or resulting trust theories. She abandoned the resulting trust theory, not because it was without merit, but because it became unnecessary:

A resulting trust arises where a person makes or causes to be made a disposition of property under circumstances which raise an inference that he does not intend that the person taking or holding the property should have the beneficial interest in the property. An essential element of a resulting trust is that there be an *intent* that the beneficial interest in property not go with the legal title. By definition, this intent is not express but may be inferred from the terms of the disposition or from the accompanying facts and circumstances. When the person asserting the trust has paid the consideration for the property, a presumption arises that a trust exists in that person's favor, absent evidence of a contrary intent.

Engle v. Breske, 37 Wn.App. 526, 528, 681 P.2d 263, 264 (1984) (internal citations omitted, emphasis in original).

O'Danne admittedly took title in the Condo for Archdale with the intent that the beneficial interest not go with the title, but instead to Archdale. Additionally, the law presumes Archdale has a resulting trust in the condo since she paid all the consideration for the property. *Id.* Archdale did not abandon this theory at trial because it was meritless, as O'Danne asserts; rather, she abandoned it because it became unnecessary to pursue, as she believed going into trial that the parties agreed she had a constructive trust in the Condo. October 10, 2013 CP 4:12-20. Regardless, voluntary dismissal of a claim does not amount to a final judgment for purposes of determining a statutory prevailing party attorney fee award. Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft, 165 Wn.2d 481, 491, 200 P.3d 683, 687-88 (2009). Indeed, statutory attorney fee provisions require final judgment to be operative. *Id.*

F. CONCLUSION:

The trial court erred in refusing to quiet title to the Condo, despite finding Archdale to be its equitable and constructive owner. O'Danne has an equitable duty to convey title back to Archdale once she pays off the mortgage. It necessarily follows the trial court erred in limiting Archdale's constructive trust to six months and ordering Archdale to "purchase" the Condo by May 14, 2014, or, in the alternative, ordering the forced sale of the Condo if Archdale was unable to "purchase" it by May 14, 2014.

The trial court also erred in granting O'Danne of 25% of the net proceeds of the sale of the Condo. To do so would be to grant equity to one who has not done equity. Further, O'Danne would be unjustly enriched if she were to receive any proceeds from any sale of the Condo.

The trial court erred in finding Archdale's action frivolous. Archdale's action was well-grounded in law and in fact. Archdale's claim for a constructive trust was supported by evidence other than her own testimony, proceeded to trial, and the court found clear, cogent and convincing evidence to support it.

The trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs to O'Danne as the "prevailing party." Archdale's action was not frivolous. Even if it were, O'Danne did not receive a judgment in her favor.

Therefore, O'Danne is not the "prevailing party" and not entitled to fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.84.185.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should accept review of this matter.