ARGUMENT 

Sandra Archdale fails in her Petition for Review to adequately 

address the considerations governing acceptance of review, and 

otherwise simply re-hashes arguments on the merits, which arguments 

failed before at the trial court and the Court of Appeals below. None 

ofthe considerations governing acceptance of review are satisfied here, 

and the Petition should be denied. 

RAP 13.4 provides in part that "[a] petition for review will be 

accepted by the Supreme Court only: 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with another decision ofthe Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United 
States is involved; or 

( 4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial 
public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

RAP 13.4(b) (amended 2010). Archdale relies, in her statement of 

issues on review, only on the first consideration; that is whether the 
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decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with several decisions of the 

Supreme Court. She fails to demonstrate how such conflicts exist here. 

Archdale cites to City ofLakewood v. Pierce Cnty., 144 Wn.2d 

118, 126, 30 P.3d 446, 450 (2001), for the general proposition that a 

constructive trust is an equitable remedy applicable when the person 

holding title to real property would be unjustly enriched if permitted to 

retain title. See Petition at 7. She further cites to Kausky v. Kosten, 27 

Wn.2d 721, 727-28, 179 P.2d 950 (1947), for the proposition that a 

constructive trust may be imposed where it would be unconscientious 

for the holder of legal title to real property to retain the beneficial 

interest. /d. These citations are of no help to Archdale. O'Danne was 

never enriched, much less unjustly enriched, in this case, and she never 

claimed or enjoyed any beneficial interest in the condominium. The 

decision ofthe Court of Appeals cannot therefore have conflicted with 

either City of Lakewood or Kausky. 

With respect to the claim of unjust enrichment, O'Danne 

gratuitously extended her good credit out of love and concern for her 

sister, and not out of any potential for profit. See Judgment Confirming 

Decision and Order (hereinafter the "Decision and Order"), at~ 3, CP 
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4-5. (Archdale convinced O'Danne to purchase the condo for 

Archdale's sole benefit.) O'Danne was not enriched by having held 

legal title to the condo, because she never wished to own it, id. at~ 5, 

CP 5, and obviously did not sell it, so as to receive any gain on the 

property. On the contrary, O'Danne always conceded that her sister 

held constructive title to the condo. !d. at ~ 7. 

Nor was O'Danne unjustly enriched by the Court of Appeals' 

affirmance of the trial court's order that if Archdale did not purchase 

the condominium within six months, O'Danne would receive twenty

five percent of any net proceeds of public sale. In City of Lakewood, 

the Supreme Court explained that "[e]nrichment alone will not trigger 

the doctrine . . . [of restitution] . . . ; the enrichment must be unjust 

under the circumstances and as between the two parties to the 

transaction." Lakewood at 126. Even if it could be argued that 

O'Danne would be "enriched" by receipt of25% of the net proceeds, if 

any, of the sale of the condo, such enrichment cannot be said to be 

unjust where Archdale failed to pay off the mortgage using her 

inheritance as promised, Decision and Order at~ 3, CP 4-5, and has 

now held O'Danne's credit hostage for almost eleven years. !d. at ~ 
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8.c.ii, CP 6, and CP 7. (Archdale had been in possession for some nine 

years at the time of the trial court's decision.) The Court of Appeals' 

decision determining that O'Danne was not unjustly enriched by the 

terms of the constructive trust established by the trial court is wholly 

consistent with the Supreme Court's decision in City of Lakewood v. 

Pierce Cnty., 144 Wn.2d 118, 126, 30 P.3d 446, 450 (2001). 

The Court of Appeals' decision also comports with the Supreme 

Court's decision in Kausky. O'Danne never sought or enjoyed any 

beneficial interest in the condo. It was Archdale, not O'Danne, who 

occupied it after the purchase. See Decision and Order at~~ 1, CP 4, 

and 8.b, CP 5. O'Danne in fact stipulated to the imposition of a 

constructive trust that would document her sister's equitable interest in 

the condominium; provided that O'Danne was, as a provision of that 

trust, released from the burden of liability on the mortgage on the 

condo. !d. at ~~ 5 and 7, CP 5. O'Danne had been in the meantime 

telling her sister for years that the condo would be transferred as long 

as Archdale paid off or assumed the underlying mortgage. See Exhs. 

32 and 37. 

Archdale has also failed in her Petition to show how the Court 
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of Appeals' affirmation of the trial court's award of attorneys' fees to 

O'Danne under RCW 4.84.185 conflicts with decisions ofthe Supreme 

Court. Archdale cites Biggs v. Vail, 119 Wn.2d 129, 830 P.2d 350 

( 1992), for the propositions that the claims must have been frivolous in 

their entirety and must have been made without a rational basis in fact 

or law. See Petition at 11. Those are precisely the standards that the 

Court of Appeals applied in this case. 

The Court of Appeals concluded that Archdale's claims were 

without factual or legal basis where the findings established that 

Archdale failed to pay off the mortgage as promised, see Decision of 

Court of Appeals at 4, and that O'Danne had been willing, without a 

court order, to convey in exchange for a payoff. !d. at 10. The only 

remaining claim was one for damages, and Archdale presented no 

evidence on that claim. !d. at 10-11. 

Archdale also asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision 

conflicts with the Supreme Court's holding in State exrel. Quick-Ruben 

v. Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888, 969 P.2d 64 (1998). See Petition at 5. 

She then cites that case, however, only for the general proposition that 

the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in finding that her claims 
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were frivolous. See Petition at 16. No argument is presented as to any 

actual conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision below and the 

Supreme Court's opinion in Quick-Ruben. The Court of Appeals did 

in fact, under the authority of State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen, 

supra, examine Archdale's claims to determine whether they had been 

advanced with reasonable cause. The Court applied that standard and 

determined that Archdale had not reasonably perceived that she had a 

legal right to quiet title in her name, subject to encumbrances. See 

Court of Appeals Decision at 11. The Court of Appeals' decision thus 

comports with the Supreme Court's opinions in Biggs and in and State 

ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888,969 P.2d 64 (1998). 

Finally, the Court of Appeals properly applied the Supreme 

Court's decision in Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633-34, 939 P.2d 

669 ( 1997), in affirming the award of attorney's fees to O'Danne as the 

prevailing party. In Riss. the Supreme Court held that if neither party 

"wholly prevails, then the determination of who is a prevailing party 

depends upon who is the substantially prevailing party, and this 

question depends upon the extend ofthe relief afforded the parties." !d. 

at 633-34. The Court of Appeals determined that O'Danne had received 
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an affirmative judgment in her favor, in that she could, if Archdale did 

not timely purchase, sell the condo to a third party and thus obtain a 

release from the mortgage. Court of Appeals Decision at 12. O'Danne 

also received an affirmative judgment in that she was, if Archdale did 

not timely purchase, to receive an award oftwenty-five percent of any 

net proceeds of sale. ld. The Court of Appeals then compared the 

relief afforded Archdale, and found that it was "entirely different from 

the relief requested in her complaint ... ", id., and at trial. !d. The 

Court of Appeals therefore completed all appropriate analysis in 

determining that O'Danne was the prevailing party and was entitled to 

an award of fees under RCW 4.84.185. 

CONCLUSION 

Archdale asserts in her Petition only one of the considerations 

that govern acceptance of review; that being whether the decision ofthe 

Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court. She 

provides no tenable argument, however, in support of that position. 

Indeed she cannot do so, for the Court of Appeals' decision properly 

applied the law of this Court as it relates to constructive trusts and 

frivolous claims. The Petition for Review should be denied.